
 1

WINDHAM PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

WINDHAM, CT 

Regular meeting 

MINUTES 

January 26, 2012 

 

The Windham Planning & Zoning Commission held its meeting on January 26, 2012 in 
the Meeting Room, Town Hall.  Chair Paula Stahl called the meeting to order at 7:01 
P.M.  Members in attendance were: Victor Rayhall, Jean Chaine, Dawn Niles, Claire 
Lary, Paula Stahl, and Dan Lein.  Also present were Town Planner James Finger and 
Zoning Enforcement Officer Matthew Vertefeuille. Juan Montalvo was excused. 
 
I) Approval of Minutes 

 

a) The minutes of November 17, 2011 were approved.   A motion was made by Dawn 
Niles and seconded by Juan Montalvo.  Voting in favor were Dawn Niles, Juan 
Montalvo, Jean Chaine, Claire Lary, Dan Lein and Paula Stahl.  Vic Rayhall abstained.  
The motion carried. 

 
b) The minutes of December 15, 2011 were approved.  A motion was made by Dawn 
Niles and seconded by Jean Chaine.  Voting in favor were Dawn Niles, Jean Chaine, 
Juan Montalvo, Paula Stahl, Dan Lein and Claire Lary.  Vic Rayhall abstained.  The 
motion carried. 

 

II) Public Hearing 

 

1) Nectalis G. Martinez, 280 Jackson Street, Willimantic - Special Permit for a Café 
Liquor License.    
 
Mr. Martinez said he has owned the property for a couple of years and operates Control 
Temp Oil out of it.  He said he is requesting a Café Liquor Permit so that he can rent part 
of the building out for social gatherings; birthday parties, showers and other activities, 
especially for use by the Latino community. The building has a small kitchen that could 
be used for catering the events, and securing a liquor permit to be able to serve alcohol 
would compliment his plan. He said people gather together to have fun and social 
drinking is part of that   He said the building was previously occupied by a Union Hall 
among other businesses.  This business would be more of a social nature as the space 
would be rented out to individuals.  He said there is parking for 30 vehicles including 3 
handicap spaces. 
 
ZEO Matthew Vertefeuille said shortly after Mr. Martinez purchased the property he 
became aware of the fact that Mr. Martinez was already using the property for the 
proposed use.  When he inspected the property, he found a full bar set up inside the 
building.  He said he issued a cease and desist order and informed Mr. Martinez that he 
needed a liquor license to serve alcohol.  Vertefeuille explained the different types of 



 2

liquor licenses.  He said Mr. Martinez would not qualify for a Club License because you 
need to be in business for five years in order to apply for a Club License. 
 
Chair Stahl said she has a concern that there is not enough parking.  She then opened the 
meeting for public comment. 
 
1) Joan Monticello spoke against the Café Liquor License.  She said when a Café Liquor 
License is issued, one needs to consider that there is also an implied Entertainment 
License issued.   
 
She said the surrounding buildings to 280 Jackson Street are residential.  She said it is a 
bad idea to introduce a Cafe License without explicite consideration for potential noise 
that could affect the neighborhood.  During last summer, several events were held at 280 
Jackson Street which included musical entertainment.  On several occasions the music 
started at noon, and went on into the night and could be heard within my home.  What 
type of sound barrier installation is being considered, she asked.     
 
She said he Municipal Police and the Town have shown very little interest in enforcement 
of current Town, State and Federal laws regarding noise.  This among other issues carries 
a negative impact on property values.  Unfortunately, I must oppose this Café License 
request for these reasons, she said.   
 
 Planner Finger read the following letters into the record:  
 
2) Richard Czajka, 19 Carey Street, Willimantic said he was opposed to granting  a Café 
Liquor License at 280 Jackson Street for the following reasons: a) Increased traffic on 
Jackson and Carey Streets.  Jackson Street already has a high volume of traffic and Carey 
Street is being used as a connector to High Street and Eastern University.  If this request 
is granted, it will add more traffic to the area.  b) Increased Parking on lower Carey 
Street.  A number of Eastern students who rent on lower Carey Street routinely park on 
the street and there are only so many parking spots.  c) Increased Noise.  Carey Street is 
one of the last quiet areas left in Willimantic.  He said that is the reason he bought his 
house there and he would like to see it stay that way.    Extra traffic noise, loud music etc 
would ruin that.  d) Possible property value decrease.  If a bar goes in there, and becomes 
a problem, our property values would probably go down making it difficult to sell our 
property.  e) There are a number of establishments in a short radius of this location 
(Mama’s Pizza, Tony Pizza and Pub, Cordoleon’s and theThirsty Frog).  All sell food and 
drink.  Do we need another bar/café so close to these existing establishments, he asked.      
 

3) Timothy Tabor, 9 Ann Street, Willimantic was also opposed to the request for a Café 
Liquor License.  He said he works security at an establishment that serves alcohol/liquor, 
and well knows the risks involved with such an activity.  It can be called a café, 
restaurant, social club, but if it serves alcohol it brings a certain element of surprise with 
it.  This can be anything from intoxicated patrons who are usually unruly and drunk 
drivers.  This is a residential area with many children walking about.  For many of the 
low paying jobs it may create, is it worth the risk?  Is it going to lower the property 



 3

values, or is it going to create more work for the Police Department?  Is it going to lower 
my taxes, or raise my taxes?   
 
He said looking at the diagram /plan, the kitchen looks too small for a restaurant, and the 
hall, where I assume the patrons are going to sit, looks like it is big enough for live music 
which can be very loud.  This is a residential area with children. The parking lot is large 
enough for vast crowds of people; again, this is a residential area with many homes.   
 
The other bar/establishments in town, and there are quite a few, are located closer to 
Main Street and more commercially developed areas.  Other establishments are more 
restaurant related.  The more liquor that is served, the more rowdy the patrons get.  
Again, this is a residential area with families.   
 
With this being said, I ask the commission to deny the Special Permit for a Café Liquor 
License at 280 Jackson Street, Willimantic.  
 
4) Ted Swole expressed his concern with noise and parking.  He asked if there was any 
limit as to how many people would be allowed.   
 
5) Kurt Miner complimented Mr. Martinez as to the amount of work that he has done to 
upgrade the property.  He said he is not opposed to the plan, but would like more 
information regarding late night hours, traffic etc. 
 
6) Ed Rivera said this property has been used for rentals in the past. 
 
7) An unidentified neighbor spoke in favor of the request.  He said this use would provide 
an added service to the town. 
 
8) Captain Clifford Spinner, representing the Willimantic Police Dept. said anytime there 
is a crowd of people and liquor is involved it becomes an enforcement issue.  The 
department is already quite busy on weekends, and this places an additional burden on 
the department.  This is a residential area.  He questioned hours of operation, and the 
traffic pattern.  This could become an enforcement issue, and it might be something you 
want to be concerned about. 
 
9) Steve Cote said he is concerned with late hours.  He said while he could support Mr. 
Martinez in the business, he does have concerns with a 7-day operation and late hours. 
 
10) Ed Rivera said he looks at this establishment as a positive and not a negative. 
 
11)  George Hernandez, a member of the Merchants Association, spoke in support of the 
plan.  He said their intention is not to depreciate property values. 
 
Mr. Martinez said he is aware that certain measures would be required such as sound 
proofing the building to make it more compatible with the neighbors. 
 



 4

Planner Finger said although it appears there is divided opinion for the Café License; 
there is a lot of support for Mr. Martinez.  We have heard from his neighbors that he has 
done a great deal to improve the property and the business would probably be a well run 
business; the problem is the alcohol.  He suggested continuing the public hearing to allow 
town staff time to examine other options with the Liquor Commission.  He questioned 
whether or not allowing BYOB would have any effect on the request. 
 
Commissioner Dawn Niles said she is torn regarding the request because of all the nice 
things the community has been saying about Mr. Martinez.  It appears that he is a good 
neighbor.  She said her concerns are late hours and traffic. 
 
Commissioner Jean Chaine said having it as BYOB might reduce the exposure, and that 
Mr. Martinez’s intention may be very good, but once the State of Connecticut grants a 
liquor license, that property will carry that license into perpetuity.  Once he is granted the 
license he could change his mind and turn it into a regular bar.  But, even if he pledged to 
not have this happen, it doesn’t preclude a future owner from doing it and this is a 
concern, he said.  Perhaps we could compromise and consider the social club aspect and 
consider alcohol as an ancillary issue.  It might have a less negative impact if it were 
BYOB. 
 
Commissioner Dan Lein said a significant portion of our community will be drawn to an 
activity and alcohol is a factor that will bring people together.  He asked if alcohol were 
not a factor would Mr. Martinez still have the activity.  
 
Chair Paula Stahl said the problem is the proposed location.  We have to keep in mind 
that this is a residential area.  She said she would have trouble supporting a Café Liquor 
License in this location. 
 
Additional audience comments: 
 
Joan Monticello said the issue is with potential noise, and the fact that there has not been 
adequate enforcement of the law.  We do not have the assurance that there will be proper 
enforcement. 
 
Kathy Dubay voiced her concerned with noise, parking and the hours of operation. 
 
George Hernandez suggested tabling both the application and the public hearing to allow 
ZEO Matt Vertefeuille and the applicant to consider the issues of noise and hours of 
operation.  He also suggested reviewing noise and loitering ordinances.  
 
ZEO Matt Vertefeuille said he would contact the State Liquor Commission to see if there 
were any other options available.  He also agreed to contact Town Attorney Rich Cody to 
see if there was a way the PZC could grant the Special Permit with restrictions such as 
noise and by limiting the hours of operation in an attempt to make it more compatible 
with the neighborhood.  Vertefeuille said there certainly is a need for what he wants to 
do.  He said he is hopeful that a solution can be worked out to suit everyone. 



 5

 
The public hearing was continued until February 23, 2012. 
 
2) Kenneth L. Porter, III, 6 Industrial Park Drive, North Windham – application for 
one lot re-subdivision. 
 
Joseph Boucher, P.E. with Towne Engineering, referred to his letter dated January 24, 
2012 regarding the Kenneth Porter Re-subdivision at #6 Industrial Park Drive in North 
Windham, CT.  He said in view of the Subdivision Regulations the applicant finds it 
necessary to ask for waivers from various sections of the regulations.  He said this 
commercial subdivision is of small scale and is materially different in character from a 
residential subdivision.  He added that it will be subject to further review by the PZC at 
the time of site plan review.  This would be the appropriate time to address many of the 
questions which cannot be answered reasonably at this time. 
 
He said the applicant is asking waivers from the following Sections: 
 
Section 3.2.3 – Site Resource Assessment. 
 
Section 4.1.7 & 5.13.1.a –  Landscape Buffers. 
 
Section 4.19 & 5.4.1 – Streetscape Buffer. 
 
Section 4.1.1 and 8 – Drainage Design. 
 
Section 4.1.12 – Grading Plan. 
 
Section 4.1.15b&b – Cross easements. 
 
Section 4.1.15f – Solar Design. 
 
 
Mr. Boucher said the parcel is approximately 16.92 acres.  He said we need more room in 
this area to allow for storm water.  We have public water and sewer and will share 
common driveway access.  We do not have the cross easements worked out yet, said 
Boucher.   
 
ZEO Matt Vertefeuille said this is in spirit with what the town is promoting 
 
Town Planner James Finger referred to Section 72.3.5 dealing with signs.  He said the 
applicant could have more than one ground sign, and the commission could allow for 
unique signs. 
 
Mr. Boucher said we respectfully request that the waivers be granted by the PZC noting 
that there are no new streets proposed and there is no further potential land to be 
subdivided in the future. 



 6

 
As there were no public comments and no further comments from town staff or 
commission members the public hearing was closed.  Claire Lary made a motion to 
approve the subdivision proposed by Kenneth L. Porter, and also the waivers as 
requested.  Dawn Niles seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
3) Walter Landon, 42 Lover’s Lane, Windham Center – application for a four lot 
residential subdivision. 
 
Joseph Boucher, PE with Towne Engineering, said Mr. Landon is proposing a 4-lot 
subdivision for 4 residential lots with frontage on Lover’s Lane.  Two acres+ has been 
dedicated for open space, he added.  Site lines have been defined and two shared aprons 
are proposed.  The plan has been approved by the Health Director, said Boucher.  
 
He referred to a memo from Tara Risley, Staff to the Conservation, Open Space and 
Agriculture Commission which states that the Conservation, Open Space and Agriculture 
Commission members have reviewed Mr. Landon’s subdivision plan and are in favor of 
the plans presented, as well as for the piece of property they wish to convey to the Town 
of Windham for open space. She added that as Director of Recreation, she is in favor of 
the land proposed.  The proposed open space will allow us to have trails and passive 
recreation by the water when we develop the Noznick property, she said.      
 
Mr. Boucher also referred to a letter from Town Engineer Joseph Gardner who said he 
reviewed the site plan for the subdivision and has no issues with it.  He said the Code of 
Ordinance requires a $1,000 cash bond be provided for each driveway and that a $50.00 
application fee be paid.  He said that prior to releasing the bond he will check site lines, 
etc.  He went on to explain that the Code Enforcement Director checks site lines prior to 
issuing a C/O.  If an applicant for a lot wants a C/O and the grass is not growing the Code 
Enforcement Director determines a suitable bond cost.  If survey pins are not installed he 
does not issue a CO. 
 
Commissioner Dan Lein said this is a beautiful spot.  It would be a shame to take down a 
lot of trees.  Mr. Boucher said their plan is not to remove trees.  
 
Commissioner Jean Chaine referred to the area proposed for open space.  He said the 
value of the open space is on the Noznick side of the brook. 
 
Commissioner Dawn Niles stressed we have to be sure that there is access to water for 
fire protection.  Commissioner Jean Chaine said the area has plenty of water.   
 
Mr. Boucher said as part of this subdivision we are also asking for waivers from the 
following sections: 
 
Section 4.1.3 & 3.2.3 – Site Context and Site Resource Assessment. 
Section 4.1.6 – State Plan coordinates 
 



 7

Section 4.19 and 5.4.1 – Vegetation Preservation. 
Section 4.1.11 – Improvement Construction Plans. 
Section 4.1.12 – Grading Plan. 
Section 4.1.15.f – Solar Access. 
Section 5.12.3 – Open space. 
 
Mr. Boucher said the applicant requests that the PZC grant the waivers as there are no 
new streets proposed, and there is no further potential land to be subdivided in the future. 
 
As there was no public comment or no further comments from Town Staff and 
commission members, the public hearing was closed. 
 
Claire Lary made a motion to approve the request of Walter Landon for a 4-lot 
subdivision and to grant the waivers as requested. Vic Rayhall seconded the motion.  The 
motion carried unanimously. 
 
III) New Business - No new business. 
 
IV) Old Business - No old business. 
 
V) Zoning Revisions 

 

Chair Paula Stahl said we will continue to work on Revisions to the Business Zones, 
Alcohol Regulations, Lighting & Sign Regulations and Gravel Operations. 
 
Commissioner Jean Chaine referred to Gravel Operations.  He said it would be beneficial 
to meet with the gravel operators regarding their concerns.  He said there is a big concern 
that when these pits open up they are operations that are on-going.  As they get into the 
operation, the land stays scoured.  There is the possibility that small operators can go 
bankrupt before they have restored the land, although this is something they should be 
doing on their now. 
 
VI) Routine Business 

 

a) Chair Stahl suggested considering Windham Mills as part of the Incentive Housing 
Zone. 
 
b) There will be a joint meeting with the Economic Development Commission on March 
5, 2012. 
 
As there was no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:20 P.M. 
 
                                                                                Respectfully submitted, 
 
                                                                                 Lillian Murray, Clerk 
   


